FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
4/3/2020 11:10 AM
SC No. 98371-2
COA No. 36666-9-III

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/7/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

## IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL F. CRONIN,

Respondent,

vs.

#### CENTRAL VALLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Petitioner.

# CENTRAL VALLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

BREEAN L. BEGGS WSBA No. 20795 Paukert & Troppmann, PLLC 522 W. Riverside Avenue, Suite 560 Spokane, WA 99201 Tel: (509) 232-7760

Fax: (509) 232-7762

E-Mail: bbeggs@pt-law.com

PAUL E. CLAY, WSBA No. 17106 Stevens Clay, P.S. 421 W. Riverside, Suite 1575 Spokane, WA 99201 Tel: (509) 838-8330

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
v.	ARGUMENT8				
	A.	Should a party be held in contempt while seeking a stay under RAP 8.1 or 8.3?			
	В.	Can a court impose daily penalties on a party to ensure compliance with an order without finding that party in contempt of that order?			
	C.	Can a court reinstate a teacher without first making a sufficient-cause determination?16			
	D.	Can a court impose double damages on a party for withholding wages while seeking a stay of the order that required the payment of those wages?			
V.	CON	NCLUSION19			

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### Cases

Cronin v. Central Valley School District, Wn. App.3d, 456 P.3d 857 (2020)passim					
Hill v. Garda CL Northwest, Inc., 191 Wn.2d 553 (2018)19					
Mead Sch. Dist. 354 v. Mead Educ. Ass'n, 85 Wn.2d 278 (1975)16, 17					
State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 364 (1984)					
State v. Sims, 1 Wn. App.2d 472, 479 (2017) affirmed in part, reversed in part by State v. Sims, 193 Wn.2d 86 (2019)					
Washington Federation of State Employees v. State, 99 Wn.2d 878 (1983)8					
Statutes					
RCW 7.21.030					
RCW 28A.405.21017					
RCW 28A.405.30017					
RCW 28A.405.31017					
RCW 28A.405.32018					
RCW 28A.405.35018					
RCW 28A.405.38017, 18					
Other					
CR 6210, 11					
RAP 8.1passim					

RAP 8.3....passim

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Respondent Central Valley School District asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review, which is identified below.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The District seeks review of the following decision by the Court of Appeals: *Cronin v. Central Valley School District*, \_\_ Wn. App.3d \_\_, 456 P.3d 857 (2020) (Appendix A). The District moved the Court of Appeals to reconsider its decision. The Court of Appeals, however, denied the District's motion on March 5, 2020 (Appendix B).<sup>1</sup>

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The District's petition raises several issues of substantial interest that should be addressed by this Court:

A. To preserve the fruits of a successful appeal, a party may seek a stay under RAP 8.1 and 8.3 of a court order while that order is being reviewed on appeal. Despite that purpose, the District was found in contempt for not complying with an order while seeking a stay of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This matter is closely related to the District's pending petition of review that was filed on March 2, 2020 regarding Supreme Court No. 98224-4.

- that order under RAP 8.1 and 8.3. Did the Court of Appeals err by upholding that finding of contempt?
- B. Revised Code of Washington 7.21.030 allows a court to impose daily penalties on a party to coerce compliance with a court order after the court has found the party to be in contempt of that order. In this case, the Trial Court imposed daily penalties to coerce compliance with an order that the District had not been found in contempt of. Did the Court of Appeals err in upholding those daily penalties?
- C. Under the statutory framework for discharging and nonrenewing teachers, a superior court can only reinstate a teacher if it finds sufficient cause does not exist for the teacher's discharge or nonrenewal. Here, the Trial Court reinstated Cronin without a sufficient-cause finding. Did the Court of Appeals err when it determined that the Trial Court could reinstate Cronin without making such a finding?
- D. A party will not be subject to double damages for withholding wages if the party genuinely believes the wages aren't owed and if that belief is fairly debatable. The District withheld wages from Cronin while it sought a stay of the order requiring the District to pay him

those wages, genuinely believing it did not have to pay the wages while seeking a stay. Was the District's belief fairly debatable?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 29, 2018, the Trial Court entered an order that required the District to give Cronin a hearing to determine whether sufficient cause existed for his discharge and the nonrenewal of his contract. As part of that order, the Trial Court directed the District to reinstate Cronin with pay and benefits pending the outcome of his hearing, even though his prior teaching contract had expired.<sup>2</sup>

Shortly after the June 29 order was entered, the District asked the Trial Court to stay the order to the extent it required the District to reinstate Cronin pending the outcome of his sufficient-cause hearing.<sup>3</sup> On August 22, the Trial Court denied the District's motion and entered a final judgment in Cronin's favor.<sup>4</sup>

Because the District believed the Trial Court erred in awarding Cronin back wages, granting him a hearing, and reinstating him with pay

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CP at 319–22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP 323–27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CP 328-36.

and benefits pending that hearing, the District filed a notice of appeal on August 28.<sup>5</sup>

With its notice of appeal filed, the District began drafting a motion to stay, intending to file it with the Court of Appeals.<sup>6</sup> The purpose of the motion was to seek a stay of the portion of the June 29 order that reinstated Mr. Cronin with pay and benefits pending the outcome of his hearing.<sup>7</sup> Before the District could finish drafting its motion, though, Cronin filed a motion with the Trial Court, requesting that the Trial Court find the District in contempt.<sup>8</sup>

A few days later, the District filed its motion to stay with the Court of Appeals.<sup>9</sup>

Because the District's motion to stay was pending before the Court of Appeals at the time Cronin's motion for contempt came before the Trial Court, the Trial Court reserved ruling on the motion until the District's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> CP 21–33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP 12-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> CP 12–13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CP 1-2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CP 32–56.

motion was resolved, recognizing that entering a contempt order at that time could lead to inconsistent rulings.<sup>10</sup>

While the District awaited the outcome of its motion to stay, it moved forward with Cronin's statutory hearing. Before the hearing concluded, though, Court of Appeals Commissioner Monica Wasson denied the District's motion to stay. Shortly after that, Cronin's hearing concluded, and the hearing officer found that sufficient cause existed for Cronin's discharge and nonrenewal as of January 5, 2012. The hearing officer's decision was based on Cronin's repeated alcohol-related arrests, his harassment of adult women, and his inappropriate touching of female students. Shortly after the hearing officer's decision was based on Cronin's repeated alcohol-related arrests, his harassment of adult women, and his inappropriate touching of female students.

Then, on December 28, 2018, the District filed a motion to modify with the Court of Appeals, seeking review of the Commissioner's decision. <sup>14</sup> That same day, Cronin filed a second motion for contempt with the Trial Court. <sup>15</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> RP 19:15-19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> CP 110-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> CP 115–35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CP 115–35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> CP 137–57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP 72-74.

Even though the District's motion to modify was still pending before the Court of Appeals, the Trial Court found the District in contempt of its June 29 order on February 1, 2019.<sup>16</sup>

As part of its February 1 order, the Trial Court awarded Cronin losses and costs it believed resulted from the District's contempt in lieu of any coercive sanctions because the hearing officer's decision made it legally impossible for the District to comply with the June 29 order to the extent it required reinstatement.<sup>17</sup> Specifically, the Trial Court awarded Cronin the following: wages and benefits from June 29, 2018, to December 21, 2018; double damages; prejudgment interest; and reasonable attorney's fees and costs.<sup>18</sup>

On February 27, 2019, the Trial Court entered an order setting the amounts the District owed Cronin under the February 1 order and reduced it to a judgment.<sup>19</sup> The Trial Court also awarded Cronin post-judgment interest and imposed daily penalties on the District if it failed to pay Cronin the amounts due under the February 27 order within thirty days of the order

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> CP 241-46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> CP 241-46.

<sup>18</sup> CP 246.

<sup>19</sup> CP at 284-91.

being entered. <sup>20</sup> The Trial Court stated it had authority to impose daily penalties for future failure to satisfy the judgment under RCW 7.21.030(2)(b).<sup>21</sup>

Disagreeing with the Trial Court's February 1 and February 27 orders and the terms of the judgment, the District appealed on March 11, 2019.<sup>22</sup>

On appeal, the District made the following arguments: the District should not have been held in contempt while seeking a stay under RAP 8.1 or 8.3; the Trial Court lacked the legal authority to reinstate Cronin without first making a finding that sufficient cause did not exist for his discharge and nonrenewal; the Trial Court lacked authority to impose daily penalties to compel the District to comply with its February 27 order; and the Trial Court erred when it awarded doubles damages to Cronin.

The Court of Appeals rejected the District's arguments and upheld the Trial Court's orders.

Following the Court of Appeals' decision, the District asked the Court of Appeals to reconsider the portion of its decision where it upheld the imposition of daily penalties to ensure compliance with the February 27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> CP 290.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> CP 290.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> CP at 294-312.

order. The Court of Appeals denied the District's motion on March 5, 2020.

And now, the District petitions this Court for review.

#### V. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals' decision presents the following issues that are of substantial interest and that should be determined by this Court: (A) Should a party be held in contempt while seeking a stay under RAP 8.1 or 8.3? (B) Can a court can impose daily penalties on a party to ensure compliance with an order without first finding the party in contempt of that order? (C) Can a court can reinstate a teacher without first making a sufficient-cause determination? (D) Can a court can impose double damages on a party for withholding wages while seeking a stay of the order that required the payment of those wages.

## A. Should a party be held in contempt while seeking a stay under RAP 8.1 or 8.3?

Both RAP 8.1 and 8.3 allow a party to seek a stay of a trial court order while that order is being reviewed on appeal. The purpose of those rules "is to permit appellate courts to grant preliminary relief in aid of their appellate jurisdiction so as to prevent destruction of the fruits of a successful appeal."<sup>23</sup> In other words, the purpose behind those rules is to make sure

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Washington Federation of State Employees v. State, 99 Wn.2d 878, 883 (1983).

that a party does not lose the benefit of his or her appeal by having to comply with the trial court order from which he or she is appealing.

That purpose, however, is vitiated if a party seeking a stay under RAP 8.1 or 8.3 can be held in contempt for not complying with a trial court order while a motion to stay is pending. If that can happen, the only sure way a party can avoid being found in contempt is to comply with the order while awaiting the outcome of the motion to stay, defeating the very purpose of seeking a stay.

To a certain extent, the Court of Appeals agreed with that position, saying:

The process for seeking a stay in an appellate court involves briefing and argument. Although briefing and argument is expedited in these sorts of matters, the process does not allow for an immediate resolution. The ultimate resolution can be further delayed if a party moves to modify a court commissioner's decision. Depending on the nature of the rights in play, it can take weeks or months for this process to conclude. This delay in staying some orders can impair the fruits of a successful appeal.<sup>24</sup>

Ultimately, though, the Court of Appeals did not find that position persuasive enough:

On the other hand, trial court orders tend to be well supported by the facts and law. We do not want to empower parties to intentionally disobey such orders by adopting a rule that allows them to ignore a lawful court order for weeks

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Cronin, \_\_ Wn. App.3d \_\_, 456 P.3d at 861.

or months while we decide whether to stay it. That is exactly the rule the District would have us adopt.

Procedures exist to safeguard litigants from erroneous orders that would cause irreversible harm. For instance, if a trial court ordered a party's house to be demolished, the trial court under CR 62, or the appellate court under RAP 8.1(b), would likely stay enforcement of the order to prevent irreversible harm.<sup>25</sup>

The Court of Appeals' conclusion leads to absurd and unacceptable results, which can be illustrated by using the Court of Appeals' own example of a court ordering the demolition of a party's home.

First, the Court of Appeals said that a party could avoid complying with such an order by seeking a stay with the trial court under CR 62. But under that rule, the trial court could only grant a stay

pending the disposition of a motion for a new trial or to alter or amend a judgment made pursuant to rule 59, or of a motion for relief from a judgment or order made pursuant to rule 60, or of a motion for judgment as a matter of law made pursuant to rule 50, or of a motion for amendment to the findings or for additional findings made pursuant to rule 52(b).

None of those circumstances would apply if a party has already appealed the trial court's order, as was the situation in this case.

The only relief CR 62 would give the party is an automatic temporary stay: "Upon the filing of a notice of appeal, enforcement of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Id.

judgment is stayed until the expiration of 14 days after entry of judgment." So, for fourteen days after the judgment is entered, the party would be protected from enforcement of the judgment requiring the demolition of his or her home. After those fourteen days have passed, though, CR 62 is of no use to the party.

That brings us to RAP 8.1(b). After the party files its notice of appeal, the party can seek a stay of the trial court's order under RAP 8.1(b), which gives the party a right to stay enforcement of a decision affecting real property pending appellate review. As the Court of Appeals' acknowledged, however, the process for obtaining such a stay "does not allow for an immediate resolution" and "can take weeks or months for [the] process to conclude."<sup>26</sup>

Thus, although the party will eventually be granted a stay under RAP 8.1(b) as a matter of right, there likely will be a period in which the party is protected by neither CR 62 nor RAP 8.1(b). During that period, there is nothing—according to the Court of Appeals' decision—that would prevent the trial court from finding the party in contempt of the order to demolish his or her home. If the trial court did find the party in contempt, the party would be subject to inconsistent rulings: one finding it in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Cronin, \_\_ Wn. App.3d \_\_, 456 P.3d at 861.

contempt; the other staying the trial court's order. That's an unacceptable result.

Moreover, the only way the party could ensure that it was not found in contempt would be by demolishing the home. Of course, if the party did that, it would destroy the fruits of a successful appeal—undermining the purpose of seeking a stay under RAP 8.1(b). The same would be true for any party seeking a stay under RAP 8.1 or 8.3.

Therefore, the logical, practical, and equitable approach in such situations is to allow a party to refrain from complying with a trial court order while its motion to stay is pending without running the risk of being held in contempt for doing so. Otherwise, the party will be stuck between a rock and a hard place: either comply with the order to prevent being found in contempt—losing the benefit of seeking a stay and the appeal—or refrain from complying with the order while seeking the stay—risking a finding of contempt.

In contrast to the untenable position faced by an appellant, a respondent is fully protected without need for a contempt order. For example, in this case the, the Trial Court awarded Cronin the amount of lost wages and benefits plus interest accrued between the date of the June 29 order and the initial judgment of August 22, 2018. The District respectfully contends that the appropriate relief for Cronin if he had prevailed on his

sufficient-cause hearing would have been a money judgment for his lost compensation and benefits, plus interest. This would have fully preserved Cronin's full financial remedies while the District sought its stay with the Court of Appeals without requiring the District to risk paying him funds that it would not recover after it prevailed at the sufficient cause hearing or risk daily contempt sanctions and other contempt remedies. This approach would harmonize the court rules and give full meaning to the Rules of Appellate Procedure that authorize a party to seek a stay without risking the fruits of an appeal.

# B. Can a court can impose daily penalties on a party to ensure compliance with an order without finding the party in contempt of that order?

In its February 1 order, the Trial Court found the District to be in contempt of its June 29 order, which required the District to reinstate Cronin pending the outcome of his sufficient-cause hearing.<sup>27</sup> Given that a hearing officer found sufficient cause existed for Cronin's discharge and nonrenewal, Cronin could not be reinstated at that time. Therefore, the Trial Court stopped trying to enforce the June 29 order and instead awarded

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> CP 241–46.

Cronin losses and costs associated with the District's contempt under RCW 7.21.030(3).<sup>28</sup>

Then, the Trial Court entered its February 27 order, which set the specific amounts the District owed under the February 1 order.<sup>29</sup> The Trial Court ensured compliance with the February 27 order by imposing daily penalties on the District under RCW 7.21.030 if it did not satisfy the judgment, regardless of the outcome of an appeal:

Under the Court's remedial powers for sanctions under RCW 7.21.030, the Court has the ability to ensure compliance with an order issued. *Defendant shall pay the sums owing under this Order and Judgment within 30 days*. If payment is not made within 30 days, then a per diem charge shall be made in the amount of \$100 per day until the judgment is paid in full.<sup>30</sup>

Two other times in the February 27 order, the Trial Court reiterated that the daily penalties were to coerce compliance with that order: "Defendant shall have 30 days to pay the amounts owed under *this Order and Judgment*. Thereafter, Defendant shall be assessed \$100 per day until *this judgment* is paid in full." "Defendant shall have 30 days to pay the amounts owed under *this Order and Judgment*. Thereafter, Defendant shall

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> CP 244–46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> CP 284-91.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> CP 290 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> CP 290 (emphasis added).

be assessed \$100 per day until the judgment is paid in full."<sup>32</sup> Thus, three different times the February 27 order states that the daily penalties were imposed to coerce the District to comply with *that* order.

This is the thing, though: the Trial Court never found the District to be in contempt of the February 27 order. And, RCW 7.21.030 authorizes the imposition of daily penalties to "coerce a party to comply with a court order" *only if* the court has found the party to be in contempt of that order. Stated otherwise, a court must find a party in contempt of a court order *before* imposing a remedial sanction under RCW 7.21.030 to coerce compliance with that order. Because the Trial Court never found the District in contempt of the February 27 order, it could not impose daily penalties under RCW 7.21.030 to coerce compliance with that order. Thus, the Court of Appeals erred in upholding those penalties.

The Court of Appeals further erred in upholding the imposition of daily penalties because it mistakenly believed that the daily penalties were imposed to ensure compliance with the June 29 order.<sup>34</sup> But as shown above—and as is evident from reading the February 27 order—the daily

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> CP 291 (emphasis added).

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