FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/4/2020 12:29 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98371-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 36666-9-III

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III

MICHAEL F. CRONIN,

Respondent,

VS.

CENTRAL VALLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Appellant.

RESPONDENT MICHAEL F. CRONIN'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT CENTRAL VALLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Larry J. Kuznetz Sarah N. Harmon POWELL, KUZNETZ & PARKER, P.S. 316 W. Boone, Ste. 380 Rock Pointe Tower Spokane, WA 99201-2346 (509) 455-4151 ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

The per diem amount awarded was based on the District's contempt of the June 29, 2018 order, not the February 27, 2019 order. *Id.* It was fashioned to compel payment of the wages and benefits owed from the June 29, 2018 through

December 21, 2018 time period, when Cronin's pay and benefits should have been reinstated pending the hearing. *Id.* The District continues to ignore the critical distinction that it was found in contempt for failing to abide by the June 29, 2018 order, not the February 27, 2019 order. The Trial Court was not required to first hold the District in contempt of the February 27, 2019, order for it to have authority under the law to order and determine per diem remedial sanctions. The District has cited no authority for its position that it must first be held in contempt of the February 27, 2019 order before per diem remedial sanctions can be ordered. The District was already found in contempt of the June 29, 2018 order. *Id.* Now, the Trial Court was giving the District the opportunity to comply and pay the amounts owed in order to purge itself from the contempt of the June 29, 2018 order. *Id.* The District could have avoided any per diem sanctions by paying Cronin the amounts owed to him under the June 29, 2018 order. *Id.* As the Trial Court explained:

There was a valid court order that was supposed to restore Mr. Cronin to employment effective June 29th. The District chose not to restore him to employment in the hopes that the Court of Appeals would grant it a stay... It turned out the District's motion was denied and the order was not stayed.

Mr. Cronin was deprived his return to employment between June 29 and December 21st when he was formally terminated. That was a gamble the District took. *That was the basis for contempt.* ...

Mr. Cronin was supposed to be restored to his employment. He wasn't restored to his employment. As a result, he lost pay and benefits for a substantial period of time.

What I'm going to do is indicate that the District has 30 days to pay the judgment. And after 30 days, there will be a per diem of \$100 per day <u>until that judgment is paid</u>. VR 3:19-25; 4:1-4; 5:22-25; 6:1-5 (emphasis added).

The Trial Court's February 27, 2019 order was appealed by the District on March 11, 2019. CP 294. The Court of Appeals in two separate decisions affirmed the Trial Court's underlying June 29, 2018 and August 22, 2018 orders on summary judgment, and the February 27, 2019 order on contempt. Cronin v. Central Valley School District, 456 P.3d 843 (2020); Cronin v. Central Valley School District, 456 P.3d 857 (2020). The District moved for reconsideration with the Court of Appeals, but only the Court's decision affirming the Trial Court's imposition of per diem remedial sanctions. App. Brf. In Support of Mtn. for Reconsideration, COA No. 36666-9-III, Feb. 18, 2020.

A. Review Should Be Denied As The District Failed To Argue Any Considerations Governing Acceptance Of Review.

The Rules of Appellate procedure are clear. A petition for review will only be accepted if one or more of the four considerations detailed in RAP 13.4(b) are at issue: "A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:" if the Court of Appeals decision is (1) in conflict with a decision with the Supreme Court; (2) in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) raises a significant constitutional question of law; or (4) involves an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(emphasis added). The burden is on the petitioning party to demonstrate the existence of an issue that would merit review pursuant to the considerations in RAP 13.4(b). *Id.* If the petitioning party fails to demonstrate the existence of any issues meriting review under RAP 13.4(b), then discretionary review will be denied. *In re Wilson*, 338 P.3d 275 (2013). The

District has not only failed to meet this burden, but it has failed to even argue or raise the considerations for review under RAP 13.4(b). In fact, the District did not cite RAP 13.4(b) a single time in its petition for review.

The District concludes that the underlying decision presents "issues that are of substantial interest" (not substantial "public interest") and that is the basis for this Court to accept discretionary review. *Pet.* at 8; *see also Id.* at 1 ("The District's petition raises several issues of *substantial interest*")(emphasis added). But at no point does the District argue or support this conclusion that the issues presented are of substantial "public" interest. Rather, the District's presumes this to be true and then re-argues the issues that were decided on appeal. Essentially, the District wants this Court to accept review because the District does not agree with the underlying Court of Appeals decision, which ruled against it.

Further, whether an issue happens to be of "substantial interest" is not the standard for this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b), when the standard is "substantial *public* interest." The District does not argue or claim that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or with a published decision of the Court of Appeals. Nor does the District argue anywhere that the decision raises a significant constitutional question of law. The District has failed to argue, let alone demonstrate, the existence of any issue meriting review under RAP 13.4(b). As a result, discretionary review should be denied.

B. The Issues Presented by the District for Review Were Properly Decided by the Trial Court and Affirmed by the Court of Appeals.

Despite the District failing to carry its burden under RAP 13.4(b), Cronin addresses each issue raised by the District in its petition.

1. The District Was Found in Contempt After Both Motions for Stay were Denied.

This is not a case where a house was demolished while a motion to stay was pending before the Court of Appeals only days after an appeal was filed. The District is comparing paying Cronin approximately six months' worth of wages and benefits to the demolition of a home. The comparison is not illustrative of what happened in this case. On January 10, 2019, when the Trial Court found the District in contempt of court, there was no motion for stay pending.³ Further, by that time, the District's motions to stay both before the Trial Court and the Court of Appeals' Commissioner had been denied. This is important because at the time the District was found in contempt by the Trial Court, two separate decision-makers had already considered the potential injuries to the parties should a stay be granted or denied, and both determined that a stay was not proper in this case under these particular facts and circumstances. This was critical to the Court of Appeals as well, "Here, compliance with the trial court's order did not expose the District to irreversible harm. The order required the District to pay Cronin his wages and benefits for only a few months, pending his statutory hearing." Cronin, 456 P.3d at 861.

In reality, Cronin filed his motion for contempt on September 7, 2018, *prior* to when the District's motion for stay was even filed on September 11, 2018. The Trial Court *reserved its ruling* on contempt, pending a decision by the Court of

³ The District's Motion to Modify the Commissioner's Ruling Denying the Motion for Stay was pending on January 10, 2019, however, its motion was denied on February 22, 2019, *prior to* the Trial Court's final contempt order entered on February 27, 2019, the order appealed by the District. So, at the time the February 27, 2019 order was entered, no motion for stay was pending.

Appeals on the District's motion for stay. Commissioner Wasson denied the motion on November 30, 2018, and the Trial Court found the District in contempt on January 10, 2019. The District misrepresents for the record that the Trial Court held them in contempt while a motion to stay was pending. No motion to stay was pending. The only matter pending was the District's motion to modify the Commissioner's ruling denying a stay. Pet. for Review, 1-2, 8-13. As of November 30, 2018, when the stay was denied by Commissioner Wasson, the District had been ignoring a valid court order for over *five months*. The District had not reinstated Cronin's pay and benefits pending the statutory hearing despite a clear and valid court order while the parties were still proceeding with the statutory hearing. The District was given an opportunity to argue the merits of its stay before being held in contempt by the Trial Court. The stay was denied, and the District still refused to comply with and willfully violated a valid court order. The Trial Court properly found the District in contempt on January 10, 2019.

Both the Court of Appeals and Trial Court recognized the longstanding authority that unless a court order is stayed or set aside, it is enforceable. *Cronin*, 456 P.3d at 861. Seeking a stay does not excuse a party from complying with an order unless and until the order is stayed or set aside. *Id.* The Court of Appeals relied on RCW 7.21.070 and RAP 8.1 to conclude that a party is not relieved from the legal effect of an order when it is appealed, nor is an order on appeal placed "in limbo by the mere act of the contumacious party filing a motion with an appellate court." *Id.* Filing a motion to stay does not have the legal effect of

automatically staying an order or diminishing the effect of it as the District contends. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals noted that although motions do not provide immediate or instantaneous relief, procedural safeguards do exist for litigants when erroneous orders would cause irreversible harm. ⁴ The facts of this case did not support a finding of irreversible harm. No house was being demolished. A few months of a teachers pay and benefits is neither significant nor irreversible harm even if the District prevailed on appeal. Ultimately, the District did not prevail on appeal and was not harmed in any way whatsoever when its motions for stay were denied.

The position that the District asked the Court of Appeals to adopt, and is now asking this Court to consider, would empower parties to intentionally disobey valid court orders for weeks or months simply with an aggressive motion practice. This position is unsupported by any law. Rather, the authorities support the Court of Appeals' decision that a Trial Court has the authority under its broad powers to find a contumacious party in contempt even while that party is in the process of seeking a stay of the order in an appellate court.

2. The Trial Court had Authority to Fashion a Per Diem Remedial Sanction Under the Clear Language of RCW 7.21.030(2)(c).

The Trial Court has broad discretion and the power to fashion an appropriate remedy for noncompliance with its orders. *In re Silva*, 166 Wn.2d 133, 140-41 (2009)(Courts are vested with an inherent contempt authority as contempt of

⁴ The District argues that the underlying June 29, 2018 order was erroneous. But that Order was affirmed by the Court of Appeals. *Cronin v. Central Valley School Dist.*, 456 P.3d 843 (2020).

court is disruptive to court proceedings and undermines the Court's authority). Furthermore, a court has the power to award money damages instead of specific performance where specific performance is not feasible. *Crafts v. Pitts*, 161 Wn.2d 16, 27 (2007) *citing Zastrow v. W.G. Platts, Inc.*, 57 Wn.2d 347, 357 (1960); *Morgan v. Bell*, 3 Wn. 554, 556 (1892)(when a party incapacitates themselves from performance, an award for monetary damages is an appropriate remedy). The defense of impossibility for a contempt finding is invalid when the impossibility was self-created. *In re Lawrence*, 279 F.3d 1294, 1300 (11th Cir. 2002). Under the Contempt of Court statutes, RCW 7.21.030(2) provides in part:

If the court finds that a person has failed or refused to perform an act that is yet within the person's power to perform the court may find the person in contempt of court and <u>impose one or more of</u> the following remedial sanctions:

- ...(b) A forfeiture not to exceed two thousand dollars for each day the contempt of court continues.
- (c) An order designed to ensure compliance with a prior order of the court. (emphasis added).

Under the plain language of the statute, the Trial Court had authority to impose its per diem sanction under the circumstances.

The District is incorrect that the per diem remedial sanctions are based on the February 27, 2019 order. Rather, "the Trial Court's order on contempt included a \$100 per diem remedial sanction to ensure compliance with its June 29 order[.]". *Cronin*, 456 P.3d at 861. The Trial Court found the District in contempt for intentionally refusing to comply with the June 29, 2018 order. The District never purged its contempt finding. The District claimed that when it was found in contempt, it was impossible to comply with the June 29, 2018, order as it was no longer enforceable because the statutory hearing officer effectively terminated

Cronin's employment on December 21, 2019. However; impossibility is not a defense to contempt because in this instance, the District self-created the impossibility of performance by willfully ignoring the court's order until the statutory hearing officer issued a written decision. Furthermore, the District can still at its option pay Cronin his wages and benefits owed from June 29, 2018, to December 21, 2018. This is within the District's power to perform. Or it can continue to let the per diem accrue. The choice is theirs. The fact is the Trial Court's February 27, 2019 order was fashioned to ensure compliance with the June 29, 2018 order, and the District had the power to purge itself of contempt and the per diem remedial sanctions if at some point it chose to pay, which would effectuate compliance with the June 29, 2018 order. CP 284-291.

The Court of Appeals reviewed the per diem remedial sanctions under the abuse of discretion standard and found the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion but acted well within its broad authority. *Cronin*, 456 P.3d at 861. The Court of Appeals specified that the February 27, 2019 order was not authorizing a Trial Court to force a litigant to quickly pay a money judgment, rather, the order was the result of the District's intentional violation of the Trial Court's June 29, 2018 order. *Id.* This distinction also demonstrates how absurd the District's contention is that it must first have been found in contempt of the February 27, 2019 order before the Trial Court could award per diem remedial sanctions. The February 27, 2019 order was not simply a money judgment, it was an order on contempt fashioned under RCW 7.21.030(2) to ensure compliance with the *prior* June 29, 2018 order, *after* the District was found in contempt of that very order.

Accordingly, the petition for review on this issue should be denied.

3. The District Cannot Use a Contempt Proceeding to Collaterally Attack the Underlying Order.

The District is attempting to collaterally attack the underlying June 29, 2018 order by arguing that the Trial Court lacked authority to reinstate Cronin's pay and benefits. Not only is this an impermissible collateral attack on the underlying order in a contempt proceeding, but it misrepresents the Court's ruling.

First, under the collateral bar rule, "a court order cannot be collaterally attacked in contempt proceedings arising from its violation, since a contempt judgment will normally stand even if the order violated was erroneous or was later ruled invalid." *Det. Of Broer v. State*, 93 Wn. App. 852, 858 (1998). The only exception is when a court lacks jurisdiction to enter the underlying order. *Id.* The test for "jurisdiction" measures whether the court was performing the kind of function consistent with its vested judicial powers. *Id.*

The District attempts to claim that the Trial Court lacked jurisdiction to reinstate Cronin's pay and benefits since under RCW 28A.405.310, only a statutory hearing officer can reinstate Cronin. Their argument begs the issue. The District relies exclusively on this statute which grants a statutory hearing officer the authority to reinstate a teacher to the classroom, including back pay and benefits *after* a statutory hearing on the merits, claiming that it stands for the proposition that only the hearing officer, not a superior court judge, has the sole and exclusive authority to reinstate a teacher. This statute is inapplicable. It is not what the Trial Court did nor was attempting to fashion. Rather, the District was ordered to reinstate Cronin's pay and benefits *pending* the statutory hearing,

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